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33d CoNGREss, ~ 
2d Session. 5 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES. 

INDIANS-CREEK AND SEMINOLE. 

MESSAGE 

FROM THE 

5 Ex:Doc. 
( No. 15. 

PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES, 
TRANSMITTING 

Information in regard to dijjiculties between the Creek and Seminole Indians. 

DEcEMBER 18, 1854.-Laid on the table, and ordered to be printed. 

To the House qf Representatives: 

I transmit a report fi·om the Secretary of War, with accompanying 
papers, in answer to the resolution of the House of Representatives of 
the 2d of August last requesting "such information as may be in the 
possession of the War Department touching the cause of any difficul­
ties whieh may have arisen between the Creek and Seminole Indians 
since their removal west of the Mississippi," and other matters con­
cerning the tribes. · 

WASHINGTON, December 18, 1854. 
FRANKLIN PIERCE. 

wAR DEPARTMENT, 

Washington, December 16, 1854. 
SIR : I have the honor to submit herewith copies of reports prepared 

pursuant to a resolution of the House of Representatives of the 2d of 
August last requesting the President to lay before Congress, at the 
next session, such information as may be in possession of the War 
Department touching the cause of any difficulties which may have 
arisen between the Creek and Seminole Indians since their removaL 
west of the Mississippi, and other matters concerning those tribes. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JEFF'N DAVIS, 

To the PRESIDENT. 

Secretary of War. 
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ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, 
Washington, December 15, 1854. 

SIR: In compliance with your instructions, I have the honor to fur­
nish the information called for by the resolution of the House of Repre­
sentatives, dated August 2, 1854, relative to difficulties between the 
C:reek and Seminole Indians since their removal west of the Mississippi 
nver. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
S. COOPER, 

Hon. JEFFERSON D A vrs, 
Secretary of War. 

Adjutant General. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, 
Washington, Augu.fit 11, 1854. 

SIR: I enclose a copy of a resolution from the House of Represent­
atives calling for information in relation to the Creek and Seminole 
Indians. You are desired to collect from any reliable sources that 
may suggest themselves to you, and report, for the information of the 
Secretary of War, any information that may bear upon the subject of 
this resolution. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Brevet Maj. Gen. P. F. SMITH, 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant General. 

Com'g Dept. of Texas, Corpus Christi, Texas. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, 
Washington, August 11, 1854. 

SrR: I enclose herewith a copy of a resolution from the House of 
Representatives, calling for information in relation to the Creek and 
Seminole Indians. You are desired to collect from the officers of your 
department servini in the neighborhood of these Indians, and from any 
other reliable sources that may suggest themselves to you, and report, 
for the information of the Secretary of War, any information that may 
bear upon this resolution. The report will be made at the commence­
ment of the next session of Congress. 

Very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant, 

Brevet Brig. Gen. N. S. Cr,ARKEt 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant General. 

Com'g Department if the West, Jefferson Barracks, Mo. 
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HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE WEST, 
Jefferson Barracks, August 18, 1854. 

3 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communi­
cation of th.e 11th instant, directing me to obtain information relative 
to the difficulties between the Creeks and Seminoles, with the resolu­
tion of the House of Hepresentatives. 

On the return of Major Winship to these headquarters, it is my in­
tention to send a staff officer to inspect that portion of my department, 
and his attention will be particularly directed to obtaining information 
relative to the Indians residing in that portion of country. Major Win­
ship will return probably by the last of September. 

If the report is required before the last of October, as much informa­
tion will be obtained from other sources as practicable. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
N. S. CLAHKE, 

Col. 6th Infantry, Bvt. Brig. Gen. Corn'g. 
Colonel S. CooPER, 

Adjutant General, Washington, D. C. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPAR'TMENT OF TEXAS, 
Camp above Franklin, Texas, opposite El Paso, Sept. 20, 1854. 

CoLONEL: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter 
of the 11th of A ugut>t, enclosing a copy of a resolution of the House of 
Representatives, in relation to the Creek and Seminole Indians. 

I have no information as to the Creek Indians, or of any difficulties 
that have arisen between them and the Seminoles. All the information 
about the Seminoles that can be depended on that I have received, is 
what was contained in my com-munication from near Fort Duncan, of 
the 17th August, being a report of an officer sent by Colonel Plympton, 
by my direction, to obtain information of their designs. I will now 
send to learn all the facts that can be obtained in relation to the points 
mentioned in the resolution, and forward them as early as possible. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 
Adjutant General. 

PERSIFOH F. SMITH, 
Brevet Maj. Gen., Com.'g Department. 

[Extract.] 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Fort Duncan, Eagle Pass, Aug. 17, 1854. 

CoLONEL: I authorized and directed the commanders of the posts on 
this river to ~end agents into Mexico to learn what the bands of Indians 
are doing there. 

Lieutenant Holabird, acting assistant quartermaster, having to visit 
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the opposite side, in relation to the purchase of corn, was enabled to 
ascertain on the spot, and from reliable sources, the information which 
is contained in his report, which I enclose. It will be seen that the 
number of Indians under Wild Cat has been much overrated, and the 
intentions of his band misstated; but the evil comes from the band of 
Lipans, who are stationed by the Indian agent on the Nueces. 

* * • * • * • * 
With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 
Adjutant General. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Maj. Gen., Com'g Department. 

FoRT DuNCAN, TExAs, 
August 12, 1854. 

SIR: I have the honor to submit to the commanding officer the fol­
lowing information concerning the Indians that have crossed from this 
side of the Rio Grande into Mexico. The information I believe to be, in 
the essential parts, reliable. The Seminole Indians live at or near 
Santa Rosa, upon lands furnished them by Mexico, which they cultivate. 
They have horses, cattle, and mules. They have about fifty warriors, 
and a number of negroes. These Indians are under the immediate 
control of"vVild Cat, their chief, and they are subject to the military 
orders of Colonel Castanedo, the inspector general of the neighboring 
colonies. I look upon the Seminoles as a military colony, under Wild 
Cat, and his warriors are colonial troops. As colonial troops they were 
employed against the party of Caravajal, and rendered efficient aid in 
the fight at Ceralvo, in Tamaulipas. It is believed that they are again 
to be employed for a similar purpose, to guard the passes of the Rio 
Grande in this vicinity, and prevent any parties crossing to aid the 
reputed revolutionists ; and they would probably be used against any 
faction opposing Santa Anga. These Indians are known to have a 
bitter hatred f<)r many of the residents of this side of the river. They 
are well acquainted with all the positions of the live stock raised and 
kept on this side, and have an intimate knowledge of all the fords of 
the Rio Grande. Under these circumstances they would undoubtedly 
be very troublesome neighbors, particularly if their natural impulses to 
steal are stimulated by encouragement or countenance from the other 
side. That such countenance and protection has previouly been given 
is well known. The Seminoles crossed to this side and stole a large 
number of animals in the month of :!\'larch. After crossing the river 
they went directly to San Fernando, and in the presence of the authori­
ties, civil and military, boasted of what they had done, and publicly 
announced (.Mr. Harrison can make affidavit to the fact) that they (the 
Seminoles, and particularly Wild Cat) did this with the knowledge 
and consent of General Cardona, of Coahuila; and that he could not 
sell the animals again to their proper owners, because he was only en­
titled to half: the other half was to be delivered to his Excellency the 
governor. No steps, as far as can be ascertained, have been taken to 
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disprove the evidence of the Indians ; and the boldness of the act, ~o­
gether with the cool impudence with which they answered any in­
quiries on the subject, seem to indicate something very much like pro­
tection. All the above, I believe, can be readily proven. I do not 
think the Seminole Indians have committed depredations since the 
above affair. 

The Lipans are reported to be under their chiefs, Ceyota and Castro ; 
said to number 160 warriors. They seem to be confined to no particu­
lar spot; for some time past they have been in the vicinity of San Fer­
nando. There is but one there now, and he appears to be used as a 
courier to look up and carry orders to the others as they seem to be 
under the command, and are well known to be under the military pro­
tection of Colonel Castaneda. These Indians are only at peace with 
the State of Coahuila, which embraces the opposite town. 

The people of the neighboring State of Tamaulipas raised a force and 
came against these Lipans; but Colonel Castaneda turned out with a 
much larger force to protect the Indians, and the Tamaulipans had to 
retire. One hundred Lipan warriors presented themselves to Colonel 
Castaneda and wished to be led against their enemies, but their 
services were declined. This made the Indians suspect treachery, 
and they withdrew to the mountains; and it is reported that Castro has 
returned to his old position near Las Moras. I do not know upon 
what the report is founded. It is generally believed that the Lipans 
have been sent for to aid the Seminoles in guarding the frontiers from 
fillibusters, and the interior from revolutionists. I could find no par­
ticular charge against the Lipans having stolen from this side since 
they crossed ; but they have animals in their possession they do not 
own, and some of which are reported to have government marks. 

I am sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
T. B. HOLABIRD, 

Lieut. R. W. JoHNSON. 
Second Lieutenant 1st Infantry. 

Adjutant 1st Infantry. 

NoTE.-1 was told that the horse stolen from General Smith at Fort 
D unran was bought by a secretary of Governor Cardona, and those 
knowing the fact think he was aware where the horse came from, and 
how. 

The horse was said to be sorrel. A mule was carried over at the 
same time, but where it was taken I could not ascertain. 

T. B. HOLABIRD, 
Second Lieutenant, &-c. 

HEADQUARTERS, FoRT DuNcAN, TExAs, 
October 17, 1864. 

CoLONEL: I enclose herewith a duplicate of a communication made 
by direction of General Smith relating to the Seminole Indians. He 
requested me to forward a duplicate direct, he being absent at present 
from his headquarters. This communication is as full as it could be 
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made, owing to the difficulty of obtaining facts in regard to the points 
inquired into to a greater extent. 

1 am, Colonel, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 

J. PLYMPTON, 
Colonel 1st Infantry. 

AdJutant General U. S. A., Washington, D. C. 

HEADQUARTERS, FoRT DuNcAN, TExAs, 
October 16, 1854. 

SIR: I have the honor to make the following reply to a communica­
tion from General Smith's headquarters, under date September 20, 
1854, in answer to the following inquiries: 

" 1. The number of Seminole Indians who have left the country as­
signed them, and are now in :Mexico, near Eagle Pass-men, women, 
and children. 

"2. Whether they or any of them have been engaged in hostilities 
against the people of the United States since leaving our territory, and 
the particulars of such acts, and the testig10ny upon which the informa­
tion is founded." 

The Seminole Indians have with them between 50 and 60 negroes, 
who are on terms of perfect equality with them, and entitled to as 
many privileges as though they. were Indians. They are armed, and 
almost invariably accompany them in their depredating excursions. 

The whole taken together, including men, women, children, and 
negroes, number about 318. Of this number about 183 are warriors. 
At present about 82 of their warriors are regularly enlisted in the 
army, officered by their own men, who are commissioned officers in 
the army of Mexico. One company, composed entirely of Indians, is 
commanded by Wild Cat; the other, made up of negroes only, was, 
until within a few days past, under the command of a negro known as 
Gopher John. A few days since his company became tired of him, 
and they murdered him . 
. The military commandant of the post opposite this place informed 

me a few days since that these troops were recognised and paid by 
the general government. They are now in the neighborhood of Sal­
tillo, operating, it is understood, against the revolutionists. 

These Indians are recognised as citizens, and as such entitled to all 
the privileges allowed the native-born subjects. Formerly they were 
permitted to vote; but latterly that privilege has been taken from the 
citizens of Mexico, nll the civil officers being appointed now to office 
by the supreme government. They are furnished with land by Mexico, 
upon which the women and children reside, and cultivate it. The 
portion of country set aside for their use is in the vicinity of Santa 
Rosa, and distant from this place ahout 100 miles. 

Last February a herd of animals belonging to several citizens at 
Eagle Pass was stolen by a party of Indians. A detachment from this 
place was sent out, several citizens accompanying it. Papers marked 
A and B defini\ely settle the question as to what tribe the Indians be-
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longed. The correctness of these papers could not be sworn to, there 
being no civil magistrate nearer than San Antonio; yet, from the char­
acter of the men, their statements are generally believed to be true. 
The Mexican who was employed in herding these animals also states 
that there was a negro with the Indians, which fact, of itself, is tmough 
to convict the Seminoles. 

One of the owners of the animals-Mr. Herman, a respectable mer­
chant of Eagle Pass-followed the Indians until they arrived in San 
Fernando, about 30 miles from here, and reported to the alcalde what 
the Indians had done, and requested him to have his animals taken 
from them. 

Wild Cat was called up before the alcalde, when he stated that he 
could not give them up, as half of them belonged to General Cordona, 
the commander of the district; that he and General Cordona were in 
copartnership in the pilfering business; and that if the alcalde would 
keep the animals until he (Wild Cat) could return from Santa Rosa, 
he would show him the articles of agreement betwe~n himself and 
General Cardona. The alcalde Rppeared perfectly satisfied, and per­
mitted him to keep the animals. Although Wild Cat' s word does not 
establish the fact that he and General Cordona were in copartnership, 
yet it is seen that the alcalde believed him, and that these Indians are 
permitted ro depredate on our frontier, the fact being known, if not 
encouraged by the miEtary and civil officers in Mexico. 

A wood party sent out from this post last March was attacked by 
Indians. A rifle discharged at the non-commissioned officer in charge 
of the party missed him, but killed the mule he was riding. Although 
this act of hostility cannot be proven on the Seminoles, yet there can 
be little or no doubt that it was committed by a party of them, acting 
directly or indirectly under Wild Cat. 

I am, si~, very respectfully, your most obedient servant, 

Assistant ADJUTANT GENERAL, 

J. PLY~fPTON, 
Colonel 1st Infantry. 

Headquarters Department of Texas, Cmpus Christi, Texas. 

A. 

EAGLE PASS, TExAs, October 15, 1854. 
This is to certify, that some time last spring a herd of horses and 

mules were stolen by the Indians from a resident of this place. 
The commanding officer of Fort Duncan sent a party of men in pur­

suit; and I, as well as several other citizens of this place, joined the 
party. We trailed the Indians to the point where they forded the 
river, and arrived there just as they reached the opposite shore. I saw 
the animals and Indians. The Indians belonged to the Seminole tribe. 

A moccasin was left on the American side of the river, just where 
they entered it, which was a Seminole moccasin, and could not have 
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belonged to any other tribe. I have resided here for some time, and 
am well acquainted with the Seminole Indians. 

Witness-
L. CoLQUHouN. 

RD. w. JOHNSON' 

JOHN LEVINS. 

Lieut. United States Army. 

A true copy: 

B. 

RD. W. JOHNSON, 
Adjutant 1st Infantry. 

EAGLE PAss, TEXAS, October 15, 1854. 
I certify that I was assisting to herd a number of animals, belonging 

to Messrs. Laing, Jones, and others, last February, when, within a few 
miles of this place, the herd was surrounded hy a number of Seminole 
Tndi<lns, including one negro, stampeded, and driven across the river, 
oy the same Indians. I r.annot be mistaken in regard to the tribe to 
which they belonged. They were Seminole Indians, operating under 
the orders of Wild Cat. 

Witnesses-
L. CoLQUHOUN. 

JuLIO LAING. 

RD. W. JoHNSON, 

his 
LEONICIA x GENARD. 

mark. 

Lieut. United States Army. 

A true copy: 
RD. W. JOHNSON. 

Adjutant 1st Infantry. 

c. 
EAGLE PAss, October 16, 1854. 

This is to certify, that Wild Cat, known as the Seminole Indian 
chief, has, at various times during my residence at San Fernando, 
Mexico, come into that city with a number of animals which he re­
ported to have been stolen from the Texas side of the river, and boasted 
of his capacity to steal from the Americans; and says that he is licensed 
b.y the government of :Mexico to steal from the American side of the 
nver. 

On one occasion he brought into the above named city of San Fer­
nando thirty animals, which he said he had stolen from the Americans, 
and sold them; "the owner came immediately after them but could 
not get them," the governor of Coahuila having given an order to the 
authorities of that city to make it an offence for any person to deliver 
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any stolen animals to claimants on the opposite side. Given under my 
hand and scrawl. . · 

A true copy: 
JAS. E. GARDNER. 

R. W. JOHNSON, 
AdJutant 1st Infantry. 

FoRT SMITH, ARKANSAs, November 18, 1854. 

SrR: On leaving the headquarters of the department on a four of 
inspection to the posts on the Arkansas fi·ontier, I received instructions 
from the general commanding the department of the west, to investi­
gate and obtain all the information practicable on the following sub­
jects: 

1. In regard to the difficulties which have existed between the 
Creek and Seminole Indians since their emigration west of the .Missis­
sippi. 

2. Whether the Seminoles or other Indians have left the Territory 
assigned them by the government, and whether they have been en­
gaged in hostilities against the people of the United States. 

I have now the honor to report, in obedience to my instructions, all 
the information obtained. 

Since the emigration of the Seminoles west, under the treaties con­
cluded May 9, 1832, and March 28, 1833, there have existed only two 
causes of difficulty between them and the Creeks. 

By the 1st article of the treaty concluded .May 9, 1832, it was stip­
ulated that the Seminoles should b~ received as a constituent part of 
the Creek nation, and be readmitted to all the privileges as a member 
of the same, and an additional extent of country, proportioned to their 
numbers, to be added to the Creek country for that purpose. By the 
treaty of March 28, 1833, the boundaries of this additional extent of 
country were defined, and by the treaty with the Creeks of February 
14, 1833, it was stipulated that the Seminole Indians of Florida, whose 
removal "to this country is provided for by the treaty of 1\Iay 9, 1832, 
shall also have a permanent and comfortable home on the lands hereby 
set apart as the country of the Creek nation; and thus (the Seminoles) 
will hereafter be considered a constituent part of said nation, but are 
to be located on some part of the Creek country by themselves." 

Under the above positive stipulations the Creeks have always re­
garded the Seminole nation as under their government and laws, and 
merely constituting one oft he districts into which the nation is divided, 
each district being governed by sub-chiefs. 

The Seminoles, however, have steadily refused to come under the 
control of the Creek government and laws, considering themselves a 
separate nation, and not subject to the Creek government in any man­
ner whatever. They have steadily refused always to join the Creeks 
in their annual council, although invited by them every year to send 
delegates in the same manner as the other districts of the nation. This 
has been the principal cause of difference between the Creeks and 
Seminoles. 



10 CREEK AND SEMINOLE INDIANS. 

Another serious cause of diffit~ulty between individuals of the two 
nations came into existence about December, 1848, at the time when 
the Seminole negroes were held at Fort Gibson under the protection of 
the government, a.nd from the possession of the Seminoles claiming 
them as property. About this time, by a decision of the Attorney Gen­
eral, (to which I beg leave to refer you for information on the subject,) 
the right of property in all these negroes was restored to the Seminoles, 
and, by direction of the Secretary of War, dated August 5, 1848, they 
were turned over, at Fort Gibson, in the presence of the Seminole sub­
agent, to the chiefs of the tribe. Owing to the severity of the winter, 
these negroes were not removed from Fort Gibson until the early part 
of spring. Now a wide field was thrown open to speculators, both 
whites and Indians, and many of these negroes were purchased by the 
Creeks, Cherokees, and white men, from Seminoles who had no shadow 
of a claim. They all removed, however, to the Seminole country, and 
retaining their arms, maintained their separate organizations in towns, 
most of them being located at Deep Fork and Wewoka. 

For the action of the general then commanding the 7th military de­
partment, the superintendent of Indian affairs, and the Seminole sub­
agent, I beg leave to refer to their correspondence on file at the head­
quarters, department of the west; and to facilitate reference to them, I 
enumerate them as follows: Sub-agent's letter to General Arbuckle, of 
July 16, 1849; General Arbuckle's reply, dated July 26; to communi­
cation from superintendent of Indian affairs, dated July 20, 1849; 
General Arbuckle's letter to Adjutant General, dated July 31, 1849; 
General Arbuckle's letter to General Belknap, dated August 2, 1849; 
superintendent's letter, dated August 18, 1849, in ans\ver to General 
Arbuckle's letter to him, dated August 13, 1849; letter of General 
Arbuckle to Adjutant General, dated August 14, 1849; certificate of 
Lieutenant Flint, dated August 14, 1849; and letter of General Ar­
buckle to superintendent, dated September 10, 1849; General Ar­
buckle's letter to Creek agent, dated September 10, 1849; General 
Arbuckle's letter to Adjutant General; dated September 14, 1849. From 
this correspondence, and conversation with some of the principal Creek 
chiefs and other persons well acquainted with the condition of affairs 
in both nations, I bave obtained the following facts: 

It is well known, both in the Seminole and Creek nations, that im­
mediately after the death of old Micanopy, one of the principal chiefs 
of the Seminole nation west, Coacoochee was ambitious to be chosen 
head chief of the nation, and on the selection of Jim Jumper he be­
came much dissatisfied, and was disposed to resist all operation of the 
Creek laws, notwithstanding that by treaty stipulations the Seminole 
nation formed a separate district under the Creek government. He 
(Wild Cat) was strongly influenced by Gopher John, and others of the 
chief negroes, to resist any interference in reference to the condition of 
the negroes, and was urged by them to resist aU influence of the Creeks 
over the Semiuoles. All these negroes turned over to the Seminole 
nation were congregated in small towns through the district-princi­
pally, however, in Deep Fork and Wewoka. They retained their arms, 
and lived under no restraint whatever from their owners; in fact they 
seemed to be regarded by the chiefs as common property, and the ne_ 
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groes considered themselves free, and merely under the guardianship 
of those Indians who claimed them as property in Florida before the 
emigration west. It is much to be regretted that this condition of these 
negroes was owing, in a great measure, to the interference on the part 
of some officers of the government in their behalf, to maintain them in 
a partial state of freedom, after the decision of the government that 
they were, to all intents and purposes, slaves, and that the ultimate 
title to them, as property, was to be left to the Indians themselves, 
without any intervention on the part of the government. 

All the difficulties between individuals of the Creek and Seminole 
nations have grown out of this condition of these slaves; and the negro 
chiefs have exercised a controlling influence over the Seminoles, and 
have induced them to resist the government and laws of the Creek na­
tion. The Creeks became dissatisfied that these negroes, armed and 
regularly organized in small towns, should occupy their country in this 
condition; and, influenced by speculators among themselves, Chero­
kees, and white men who had bought up claims to some of the negroes, 
were desirous to have them disarmed and reduced to an actual condi­
tion of slavery, that the chiefs of the Seminole nation might decide in 
council on all claims to this property, and that the slaves might be 
turned over and possession of them gained. It is to be regretted also that 
the sub-agent for the Seminoles was at this time engaged in the collec­
tion of a claim on a large portion of these negroes; and I mention the 
fact as leading to much discontent on the part of many of the Semi­
noles, who claimed that their slaves were alienated from them by their 
chiefs without a shadow of title. At this time, it appears that \V ild 
Cat, discontented from having lost his influence in the nation, resolved 
to do all in his power to retain the negroes in separate towns, and to 
keep them armed and almost in a perfect state of freedom. It was at 
this time also he laid his plans to leave the Seminole nation to go to 
Mexico, and desired to take as many Seminoles and negroes with him 
as possible. 

From the official documents already cited, it appears that he (Wild 
Cat) represented himself as acting under instructions from Jim Jumper, 
the principal chief~ and, in connexion with George Cloud, another chief, 
obtained the interference of General Arbuckle to preserve these negroes 
from getting into the hands of speculators, many of whom had obtained 
them by fi·audulent means and obtained fraudulent titles to them. The 
government of the Creek nation, finding that this condition of these 
negroes was likely to lead to disturbance, and that the negroes were 
armed contrary to their laws and prepared to resist by force any at­
tempt to disarm them or to change their condition, represented the facts 
to the government without taking any active measures to enforce their 
laws. It was at this time when Wild Cat, seeing a determination on 
the part of the Creeks to enforce their laws in regard to these negroes, 
left the Seminole nation, taking with him a number of Seminoles, va­
riously estimated from twenty-five to forty-five. I think, from all I can 
learn, the number was about thirty-five. Gopher John also went 
with him, taking about thirty negroes. These were aU th~t Wild 
Cat persuaded off with him at this time. It appears that at this time 
the Creek nation had abandoned all claim to these negroes, and they 



12, CREEK AND SEMINOLE INDIANS. 

were regarded by the Creek nation as the property of individuals of 
the Seminole nation. To show the views of the principal chief of the 
Creek nation, Roly Mcintosh, in regard to the operation of their laws 
over the Seminole nation, and particularly over this kind of property, 
I beg leave to refer you to a letter from Mcintosh to General Belknap; 
then commanding Fort Gibson, dated June 10, 1860-original on file 
in office of headquarters of department of the west. 

From all the correspondence above cited, it appears that all the facts 
had been set forth to the government; that, for certain reasons set forth 
by the superintendent of Indian affairs and the Semmole sub-agent, ap­
plication had been made for an armed force to bring these negroes into 
subjectiun; and, also, that no force was furnished, and the application 
urgently resisted by the military authority on the ground that to disarm 
these negroes and scatter them would serve only to alienate them from 
the Seminoles-that speculators would get hold of them and carry them 
out of the country. 

It appears, however, that this non-interference on the part of the 
military, to disarm and reduce these slaves to a state of subjection, 
tended to hasten the result anticipated in furnishing the armed force. 
Had the application been granted, in all probability the titles to these 
slaves would have been settled by the Seminole chiefs in council with­
out interference on the part of the Creeks, and the speculators could 
not have obtained half the number. 

For an accurate statement of what occurred in the Seminole nation 
at this time in reference to the difficulties between Creeks and Semi­
noles about these slaves, I refer you to a letter from Brevet Captain 
Dent, 6th infantry, on duty in the Seminole nation, to General Belknap, 
then commanding the 7th military department, dated July 16, 1860. 
The party of Creek Indians and others, mentioned in this communica­
tion, was composed entirely of individual claimants, basing their claims 
solely on purchase from the Seminoles, and of other persons who were 
actually paid by those interested to assist in disarming the negroes. 
Every man in the party not interested in the property, and taking part 
in the transaction, was paid for his services by those interested. It is 
a fact that the Creek government did not interfere with this matter at 
all. It cannot be doubted that it was the desire of the principal chiefs 
of the Seminole nation to favor this action on the part of their agent 
and the Qreek claimants to the negroes; for as soon as they found the 
party in sufficient force to disarm the negroes, they immediately, in 
council assembled, acceded to the transaction, and actually assisted in 
turning over the negroes to the claimants. 

I ascertained the fact that at this time about two hundred of these 
negroes, under Jim Bow legs, an intelligent negro, started to join "\Vild Cat 
in .Mexico. They were pursued, however, by this same party of Creeks 
and traders, and overtaken in the vicinity of Fort Arbuckle. The ne­
groes resisted, and some were killed; a few of them escaped, but 
nearly all were taken and brought back to the nation. This system of 
trading for these negroes is still kept up, and, in my opinion, the sooner 
the Semmole nation gets rid of them, the better. All of the intelligent 
Creeks and licensed traders in the nation agree ir:1 the statement that 
these negroes exercise a most pernicious influence over the Seminoles. 
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They endeavor to mcite them to violate the laws of the Creeks, and, 
perfectly free from all restraint by the Seminoles, encourage them in 
riotous conduct and drunkenness. The conduct of the Creek nation to 
the Seminoles has been that of continued forbearance and non-inter-
1:::;rence with them. The Seminoles maintain the principle that they 
are entirely independent of the Creeks, and not under the operation of 
their laws. The Creeks have forborne compelling compliance with 
the treaty stipulations rather than create a disturbance, and they put 
up with daily violation of their laws, because they fear forcible resist­
ance on the part of the Seminoles. The laws of the Creeks in regard 
to the introduc6on of liquor are very severe, and with their own peo­
ple strictly enforced; but the Seminoles violate these laws at pleasure, 
and introduce large supplies of liquor into the country unmolested. 

In concluding my report on this subject, I must remark that the 
Creeks and Seminoles generally disclaim any difficulties having ex­
isted between them since their emigration west. 

The Seminoles, claiming entire independence of the Creeks, enact 
in council their own laws. This right, although not conceded them by 
the Creeks, has not been objected to, on account of their desire to main­
tain peace. The only cause of strife and contention between individ­
uals of the two nations, has existed in the slave property and the 
fraudulent sale of slaves, which has been continued since their emigra­
tion west, and will be continued until they are all sold out of the Semi­
nole nation. 

These negroes have increased greatly in numbers, and there are 
~till a great many scattered through the nation. 

2. The number of Seminoles, or other Indians, who have left the 
country assigned them, and whether they, or any of them, have been 
engaged in hostilities against the United States since leaving our terri­
tory? 

In the winter of 1849, Coacoochee, (Wild Cat,) a Seminole sub-chief, 
as I have before stated, left the Seminole nation, taking with him Go­
pher John, an intelligent negro chief, about thirty-three Seminoles, and 
thirty negroes. It is stated that they went to Mexico, and engaged to 
wage war for the Mexicans, on the Comanche Indians. In the fall of 
1850 he returned to the Seminole nation; and in relation to his motive 
and actions there, I refer you to the following communication:; on file at 
headquarters, department of the west : Letter from Creek chiefs of 
Canadian district to Roly Mcintosh, principal Creek chief; one from 
Mcintosh to General Belknap; and one from General Belknap to General 
Arbuckle. On inquiry, I find that Wild Cat, on his return to the Semi­
nole nation, endeavored to entice off many of the young Seminoles and 
negroes, as he asserted, to wage war against the Comanches. He did 
not succeed, however, in getting any increase to his party, except a few 
negroes, as the Creeks,immediately on hearing of his arrival, took active 
measures to prevent it, and he was compelled to leave the Seminole 
nation for fear of being taken. On his way back to :Mexico, he succeed­
ed in persuading quite a large band of Kickapoos to accompany him. 

These Kickapoos were then composed of twosmall bands, living in 
the western part of the Creek country, on the Canadian, and some of 
them on the Washita, in the vicinity of Fort Arbuckle : one band, 
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under the chief Pa-na-ce-ltah, numbering about five hundred men, 
women, and children; and the other, under the chief Tom Pecan, num­
bering about three hundred men, women, and children. 

These bands had left their country west of Missouri, separated from 
their people, and relinquished their claim to any portion of the annuity 
paid their people by the government. Wild Cat fell in with these bands 
on his way out, and persuaded nearly all the young warriors of both 
these bands to accompany him, promising them money and all the 
booty taken from the Comanches, and that the Mexicans would pay 
them well for their services. The number of Kickapoo warriors ac­
companying Wild Cat is variously estimatPd from two hundred to five 
hl:lndred; from the most authentic information I could obtain, coming 
from their own people, I suppose the number was about two hundred 
warriors. The chiefs Panacehah and Tom Pecan endeavored to pre­
vent their young men from going with Wild Cat, and persuaded a large 
portion of their bands, with the old men, women, and children, not to 
follow Wildcat. All the chiefs remained behind, and are said to have 
done everything in the1r power to retain the young warriors. In the 
fall of 1851, Panacehah and Tom Pecan, with some of their old men, 
went down on the Rio Grande and succeeded in persuading all the 
Kickapoos to return to the Creek country, where they had been to live 
previous to their leaving for ].\Texico. All the Kickapoos returned with 
their chiefs, and brought back with them a large number of horses and 
mules, said to have been taken from the Comanches and Mexicans. 
Wild Cat was then left with only about forty Seminoles and from fifty 
to eighty negroes in his band, taken from the Arkansas frontier. This 
information was collected from a reliable source, and is the statement 
made by the chiefs on their return. On the return of these Kickapoos, 
the Creeks refused to permit them to live in their country north of the 
Canadian, stating that they had violated all the promises they had 
made, and had been engaged iu war with their brethren on the prairies 
contrary t0 the Creek laws by which they agrPed to be governed. 
They are now living in two bands; one under Mosqua, on the east side 
of the Washita, about seven miles north from Fort Arbuckle. This 
band now numbers about five hundred in all. The other band, under 
Tom Pecan, is located on the Canadian, about sixty miles fi-om Fort 
Arbuckle, in an east-northeast direction. This band numbers now 
about three hundred in all. These Kickapoos have left the country 
assigned them by the governmPnt, but are said to be peaceable and 
quiet. They cultivate enough corn for their own use, and hunt a great 
deal. 

About twenty-five miles north of Fort Arbuckle, on the Canadian, 
is a small band of Delawares: under Black Beaver, numbering about 
100 in all. They are very quiet and peaceable, cultivate an abundance 
of corn, and are good hunters. These are separated from the Dela­
wares west of Missouri, and are not in the country assigned them. 

The \Vitchitas, \V acos, and Towaconies, are three small bands, 
living generally together, about sixty miles west of Fort Arbuckle, on 
Cache and Rush creeks, and on the Big and Little Witchita rivers. 
Each band has its chief: As-sum-a-wah, chief of the Witchitas; Aqua­
squash, chief of the Wacos; and Ocha-rash, chief of the Towaconies. 
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These tribes number as follows: the \Vitchitas, about 350, men, wo­
men, and children; the W acos, about 200; and the Towaconies, about 
17 5. They live principally by the chase. 

About thirty or forty Shawnees live in the Creek country, north of 
and on the Canadian. They are under the Creek laws, cultivate a 
plenty of corn, and are quiet and peaceable. 

The Pi-yan-ke-shaws-a small band, numbering about forty or fifty­
live near the Shawnees. Their habits are the same. 

On the west side of the Washita river, and between Forts Arbuckle 
and Washita, is located a band of Indians, numbering about 100 in 
all, composed of Caddos, I-o-nies, and On-a-dar-ces. 

About sixty miles south of Fort Arbuckle, on Red river, near the 
mouth of Walnut bayou, is a small band of Indians, composed of rene­
gade Cherokees, and renegade Indians from various tribes. These 
number about 100 in all. It is reported that they intend to change 
their location, in the spring, to the mouth of Rush creek. 

'The Keechies are a small roving band, numbering about 150. They 
generally reside on the Canadian river, west of the Creek nation. 
They subsist principally by hunting and stealing. Not more than two 
months ago, they stole a large number of horses from the Creeks and 
Kickapoos. The Creeks organized a party and went in pursuit, butt 
did not succeed in overtaking them. It is supposed they will hardly 
return to occupy their former position, and in all probability will con­
tinue their depredations on the frontiers of Texa~. 

I found it utterly impossible to obtain any positive information 
whether any of these Indians have been engaged in hostilities against 
our people. It cannot be doubted, however, that most of these roving 
tribes will, whenever an opportunity offers, commit depredations on 
the whites, as well as the Indians, settled on the frontier. 

Allot the small bands enumerated above have left the country 
assigned them by the government, and, with the exception of the Dela­
wares, Shawnees, Piankeshaws, and Caddos, I believe none of them 
can be trusted. 

The Witchitas and Wacos live entirely by the chase, but claim to 
be the original occupants of all the country west of Fort Arbuckle, 
and, it is said, intend to claim it from the government. They are wily 
and cunning, and cannot be trusted. 

This is all the information I have been able to collect on my tour of 
inspection in regan] to these Indians; but I am satisfied that it is 
entirely correct, having been obtained from the most reliable sources. 

I am, sir, respectfully, 

AssiSTANT ADJUTANT GENERAL, 

FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant Adjutant General. 

Headquarters Department of the West, St. Louis, Missouri. 

Respectfully forwarded to the Adjutant General of the army. 
D. E. TWIGGS, 

Brigadier General U. S. Army. 
HEADQUARTERs DEPARTMENT vVEsT, 

Saint Louis, Missouri, November 30, 1854. 
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HEADQUARTERS 7TH :MILITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, June 12, 1849. 

SIR: I have the honor to enclose herewith a communication from the 
Seminole chiefs addressed to the commanding general of the division, 
and a copy of one from the Seminole sub-agent, upon the subject of 
the removal of the Indians from Florida, which embraces all the inform­
ation I have to communicate in relation to this matter. I would avail 
myself of this occasion to remark that I have noticed the commanding 
general's order requiring reports from commanding officers of posts in 
case of any Indian disturbances, &c., and would state that during my 
long service on this frontier I have known many reports to be made by 
Indian agents and others, of depredations having been committed by 
bands of hostile India:~s; of expected outbreaks and attacks, &c., &c., 
which have turned out to be utterly groundless, and which, in some 
cases, have been the result of interested motives. Possibly some such 
may reach the general. But, so long as I remain in command of this 
department, I trust I shall be duly informed of all, of any importance, 
that may transpire within its limits, of which I shall not fail promptly 
to report to division headquarters. I have thought it proper to say this 
much in order that the numerous unfounded rumors which are too fre­
quently set afloat by designing persons from interested motives, may 
not command more attention than they justly merit. 

Major W. W. MACKALL, 

I am, sir, &c., 
M. ARBUCKLE, 

Brigadier General United States Army. 

Assistant AdJt. Gen., Western Division, New Orleans, La. 
True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 

Assistant AdJutant General. 

JUNE 12, 1850. 
DEAR SIR: I had an interview with the lieutenant that you sent over 

to ascertain what right Hardage had to shoot the negro who is the 
pr0perty of Gopher John. As I had not seen Mr. Hardage at that 
time, I could give no satisfaction relative to the circumstance, but sent 
up for .Mr. Hardage, who came down and has given a full explanation. 
He has authority from the Seminole chiefs to take all the property left 
by Gopher J obn in this nation, as it is well known that the said John 
decoyed off a number of negroes belonging to the said Hardage; and 
had he no claim to the said negro, our laws would justify him in the 
course he took even if he had killed the negro on the ground, for the 
negro resisted, and tried to take a gun from Mr. Hardage's son, who 
was the person that shot him. I would also add that I see nothing 
inconsistent in the course taken with Jim Bowlegs and Stephen, for D. 
N. l\'l'lntosh had a bill of sale for Stephen; and our laws would also 
justify him in the course he took with the two negroes, for they had 
arms and horses, which our laws prohibit any negro slave from owning; 
and I have been informed by good authority that Jim Bowlegs is a 
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slave; consequently I must deal with him as I would with other slaves, 
until I am convinced to the contrary. The laws of our country allow 
any person to take his property at any place that he can find it, and 
these negroes are the property of the men who took them. From all 
the information that I can gather, at least the laws of our nation would 
give them ownership. 

I have been very much surprised, indeed, to find that you will give 
the Seminole negroes protection, after telling me, in presence of B. 
Marshall and Kendal Louis, that you had nothing more to do with 
them. It is well known that these negroes have repeatedly violated 
our laws, and have as often found protection by the commanding officer 
rrt Gibson. The right of making our own laws, and executing them, 
has been granted to us by solemn treaties. Why should you, then, 
desire to take that right from us? If we are not to enforce our laws 
over the negroes, tell us so, that we may know what to do in future. 
We feel it our duty to enforce our la~s, and if the negroes are in our 
limits we will be compelled to notice them according to our laws. The 
-- that you took the other day is national property; but our laws 
must be suspended when they come in contact with Seminole negroes. 
As we .would like for our agent to do something relative to the Semi­
n,olc negroes while in Washington, please give us an answer, and that 
we may know your views fully. 

Gen. BELKNAP, 

Fort Gibson, ArkansaF. 

Yours, respectfully, 
ROL Y :MciNTOSH, 

Principal Chief Creek }{ation. 

FoRT GmsoN, CREEK NATION, July 15, 1850. 
SrR: In answer to your communication of the lOth instant, I have 

the honor to reply, that on or about the 24th ultimo a party of Creek 
Indians, accompanied by several white men, citizens of the United 
States, and a few Cherokees, arrived in the vicinity of Wewoka, Sem­
inole nation, armed and equipped. I soon learned their object was to · 
take forcible possessi0n of a number of negroes at that time residing; 
in the Seminole nation, known as the Seminole negroes, but claimed 
by some of the leaders of the aforesaid party. :Much excitement was 
produced among the Seminole people in the vicinity, as the object of" 
the.:::;e men was not clearly known to them; and when they did learn 
that it was their intention to attack the negro town, many of them as­
serted their firm determination to assist the negroes in defending them­
selves. At this stage of the affair I considered it my duty to inter­
fere, and I immediately, by letter, jnformed :Mr. Marcellus Duval, the · 
Seminole agent, of the arrival of the party-of the intention of both, 
parties, and requested his immediate presence to prevent the pending 
difficulties. I also called on Mr. N. Mcintosh, the chief or leader of 
the Creek party, and pointed out to h1m the consequences of an attack 
by his party. I made him clearly understand, that himself and fol--

Ex. Doc. 15--2 
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lowers, as individuals, were, by the course they were about to pursue, 
likely to bring on a war between the Seminole nation and his own, and 
told him I should consider it my duty to interfere if he proceeded. I 
also informed him of my having sent for the agent, and suggested that 
before he proceeded, a thorough understanding should be had with the 
Seminole chiefs. :Mr. Duval arrived the next day. :Mr. Mcintosh, 
the leader of the Creek party, was directed by him to remove his party 
to the north side of the North Fork of the Canadian, into the Creek 
country, which he did. The agent then called a council of the Semi­
nole chiefs, and :Mr. N. Mcfntosh, and four others of the Creeks~ were 
appointed to meet the Seminoles. In this council the Seminoles agreed 
to admit the Creek force, and to assist them in taking and in deliver­
ing over a number of negroes-how many I did not learn. As soon as 
the Seminole chiefs came to this decision, 1 considered that any further 
interference on my part would be presumption. 

I learned from a good source, that about one hundred and eighty 
negroes have been taken ; many of them are only retained as prisoners 
for a time, in order to prevent them from giving information and sup­
port to those who had tied. All that had been taken were at the Sem­
inole agency when I lefL Wewoka, some five days since. A large 
number of the negroes, about one hundred and eighty, had not been 
taken, and were en route for Texas, armed, and bidding defiance to 
any person or persons who should attempt to take them. This party, 
I am informed, is commanded by "Jim Bowlegs:" a slave of "Billy 
Bowlegs," now in Florida. All the negroes that have been taken as 
yet, have been taken by the Seminoles themselves, and turned over to 
the Creeks, who were encamped about six miles from the negro town. 

I am directed in your letter to state who are the leaders or principal 
men of the Creek party, and also what white men and Cherokees are 
engaged with them, or took part in the affair. In answer, I have to 
state that of the Creeks, Nimin Mcintosh, Leah Hardridge, Torn 
Carr, Joe Smith, and John Sells, were the principals. The only Cher­
okees I observed were William Drew, Dick Drew, and .Martin Vann. 
The white men were P. H. White, of Van Buren, Arkansas; J. M. 
Smith, of Forth Smith, Arkansas; :Mathews, a trader ncar the Creek 
agency; and Gabriel Duval, a citizen of 1\tlontgomery, Alabama. 

As to the claims of the above-named individuals to the negroes they 
have taken, I know nothing except from report. :Mr. G. Duval is acting 
on the part of his brother, 'Villiam Duval, recently deceased. The 
Seminole chiefs had made an agreement to give to Mr. Duval a certain 
number of negroes for services he had rendered the nation, which ne­
groes are now being turned over to G. Duval, for the estate of his 
brother William. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
F. T. DENT, 

Lieut. F. F. FLINT, 

Brevet Captain 3d lrifantry. 

A. A. A. General 7th 1'\!ilitary Department. 

True copy FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant Adjutant tJ encral. · 
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VAN BuREN, ARKANSAS, July 16, 1849. 
SIR: As an agent of the government, it becomes my duty, when I 

have reasons to believe that opposition will be offered to the proper 
discharge of my duty, 0r the good order and quiet of the nation, in my 
opinion, requires it, to call on the military to assist me in preventing 
difficulty of any kind calculated to be an injury either to the interest of 
the government or to the Indians under my charge. Such a state of 
affairs now existing, I think it proper to address you on the subject. 
Under the order ofthe government, there \vere turned over to the Sem­
inoles, in January last, certain negro slaves, who had been f01 a con­
siderable time preceding improperly and illegally protected by the 
military garrison at Fort Gibson, in opposition to the rights of the In­
dians, their owners. Under the same orders, it became the duty of the 
council of the Seminoles to decide who, under their laws, were the 
legal owners; and it was by instruction from the Indian Bureau, also 
my duty to seethat due regard should be paid to all concerned, claim­
ants, owners, and negroes. 

In accordance with said orders and instructions, the Indians have 
decided who were the original owners before protection was offered, 
and also the present owners, whose right and title is derived under 
their laws. On the arrival of the negroes in the Seminole country, 
they were allowed to settle according to their own views, although for­
bidden to locate where they did. The chiefs deeming it advisable not 
to interfere with them until it was decided who were the respective 
owners of the various families of negroes, did not use the authority 
which of right they had, and permitted it to prevent trouble; stating at 
the time, however, that when the decisions were made, the negroes 
would be turned over to their owners. 

The decisions have been made, yet the owners have not been placed 
in possession of their property, which arises from the facts that the 
negroes positiYely refuse to be separated, or allow "their towns" to be 
broken up, asserting to the Indians, at the same time, that the military 
would protect them in ·what they do. The owners of the slaves com­
plain much of the government as being the cause of such a sta.te of 
afiiLirs, and the chiefs are indisposed to have a difficulty with the ne­
groes, or take the proper means in delivering, as contemplated in the 
order of the government, "the negroes to their respective owners." 

The owners, on their part, would much prefer that the agent of 
government should place the property in possession of those decided 
by council to be the owners1 to h3ving them killed by a party of In­
dians, which would inevitably be the case with many, should the com~ 
mon Indians take the affair into their hands. And, again, the Creeks 
assert, and with truth, their right to disarm, in accordance with their 
laws, all negroes within the limits of the Creek nation ; and should the 
Semino]es delay action in the matter, it will soon arrive at that point 
which would end<:mger the quiet. of the Creek and Seminole people, 
from the extreme repugnance wluch the Seminoles have to the inter­
ference of the CreP.ks iu the remotest manner in their affairs; although 
they wou1d approve of the same act if done by their. own people. The 
negroes will most assuredly resist the Creeks in the execution of their 
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laws, and unless assisted by the government, would also resist the Sem­
inoles. They have already resisted the laws, and will, I believe, con­
tinue to oppose them, i- o long as they are allowed to remain armed ; and 
were I to attempt the execution of any duty not consistent with their 
notions of right, I know not at what time I might expect resistance. 
I am perfectly convinceJ, to keep good order in my agency, to be 
secure in the execution of my own duties, it is absolutely necessary 
that these negroes should be disarmed; and for this reason, if no other, 
I now call for a command of government forces to disarm them. I 
have another reason for desiring it to be done by government troops. 
The negroes have continually asserted that they were upheld by the mil­
itary. I deem it, therefore, the more judicious that they should be placed 
in their true position by those they have reported to the Indians were 
upholding them in their opposition to the laws. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant. 
1\L DUVAL, 

Seminole Sub-Agent. 
Brig. Gen. 1\I. ARBUCKLE, 

U. S. Army, Comm'g 7th Mil. Dept., Fort Smith, Ark. 

True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant AdJutant General. 

VAN BuREN, CRAWFORD CouNTY, ARK., 

July 20, 1849. 
StR : I have the honor to enclose you a communication of M. Duval, 

Seminole sub-agent, setting forth the condition and ::5ituation of certain 
negroes who, by order of the government, were turned over to the 
Seminoles in January last at Fort Gibson. .Mr. Duval informs me that 
said negroes are welt armed, r<-bellious, and living chiefly in one town; 
therefore able to offer powerful resistance to the proper authority of the 
Seminole Indians should they attempt to enforce the laws of said nation. 
They (the negroes) utterly refuse to recognise the right of their mas­
ters or owners-all which has an evil tendency, creating an influence 
prejudicial to the quiet awl peace of the Seminole nation. I therefore 
respectfully request you to comply with the application of l\Ir. Duval, 
Seminole sub-agent. 

I have the honor to be, most respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JOHN DRENNEN, 

B1ig. Gen. 1\I. ARBUCI\:LE, 

Acting Superintendent W. T. 

U. S. A ., Comm'g ?tit Mil. Dept., Fort Smith, Ark. 

HEADf~UARTERS 7TH MILITARY DEPARTMENT, 

Fort Smith, July 26, 1849. 
SrR : I am instructed by the commanding general of this department 

to arknowled~e the receipt of your letter of the 20th instant, enclosing 
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an application from the Seminole sub-agent for a military force to dis­
arm the negroes recently removed to the Seminole country. 

The General had sincerely hoped that when these negroes were 
turned over to the chiefs of the Seminole nation, in presence of their 
agent, agreeably to the decision of the government, the military would 
not again be troubled with them, and that the authorities of the nation 
would be able to control them and keep them in subjection themselves. 
And it is regarded as somewhat strange that they did not, at the time, 
compel them to locate where they desired, and to deltver up their 
arms at once, if they were armed contrary to the laws of the Creek 
nation. This is much to be regretted. At present, it would be ex­
ceedingly inconvenient to send troops to the negro settlements, owing 
to high waters and the prevalence of the cholera among the only dis­
posable troops-those at Fort Gibson. The General does not, however, 
regard it necessary at this time. But an officer will be sent out with 
the agent to inquire into the existing state of affairs, and to endeavor to 
prevail upon the negroes to peaceably surrender their arms to some of 
the chiefs or to the agent, if he should be willing to receive them, or to 
some other responsible person, to be kept until they can be disposed of 
for their benefit, which is deemed both just and proper. 

I am, sir, &c., 
F. F. FLINT, A. A. A. General. 

Col. J. DRENNEN, 
Acting Superintendent W. T., Van Buren, Ark. 

True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant AdJutant General. 

HEADQUARTERS 7TH l\frLITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, July 31, 1849. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to enclose herewith copies of commu­
nications from Mr. Duval, the Seminole sub-agent, and Colonel Dren­
nen, acting superintendent of Western Territory, calling for a military 
force to disarm the negroes who were turned over to the chiefs of the 
Seminole nation during the past winter. 

At the time the negroes were to be turned over, not being able to 
perform the duty in person in consequence of an injury I had just re­
ceived from a fall, I sent my aid-de-camp, Lieutenant Flint, to assist 
General Belknap to carry out the instructions of the government, and 
directed him to request the General to endeavor to persuade the Indians 
to treat their negroes with kinduess, and also to obtain a promise from 
them that the negroes would be allowed to remain quietly in towns as 
they had formerly lived, and that they would not scatter them by sell­
ing or otherwise disposing of them, as it was believed that such was 
the desire and expectation of the government in restoring the blacks to 
the nation. I was the more particular on this point for another reason. 
I had understood, from a pretty reliable source, that it was the in ten· 
tion of the Seminoles to present a claim to the government for the ser­
vices of the negroes during the time they were under the protection of 

, 
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the troops at Fort Gibson; also for all those who had received protec­
tion and should not be turned over. And I might here add, that I am 
now fully satisfied that such a claim will be presented. 

The negroes had likewise heard that most of their number had been 
disposed ot by sales, &c., and that they .would be distributed to the dif· 
ferent claimants as soon as delivered into the hands of the chiefs; and 
as they expressed so much dissatisfaction and were so strongly opposed 
to such a proceeding, preferring rather, as they said, to die where they 
were, I was apprehensive that many of them would make their escape, 
and thnt there would be much trouble and difficulty in accomplishing 
the object, unless some such understanding could be effected. And I 
was anxious that all, if possible, should be present and turned over 
without the aid of threats or force. 

The chiefs consented to receive the negroes with the above under­
standing. Had they not done so, I firmly believe the negroes could not 
have been removed to the nation except by a strong military force, or 
else in irons. Since their removal no complaints have been heard until 
the receipt of the enclosed communication from the agent. It now ap­
pears that they are extremely insubordinate; that they violate the laws 
and resist the execution of them; and that they also carry arms, con­
trary to the laws of the Creek nation. The Seminoles pointed out a 
place about fifteen miles from the agency, where they directed the ne­
groes to locate; but, contrary to their wishes and instructions, it seems 
that the larger portion of them, headed by Gopher John, have settled 
some thirty miles from the agency, where they act in a manner inde­
pendent of all Indian authority; in consideration of all of which, I un­
derstand, the chiefs in council have resolved that the slaves shall be 
distributed and turned over to their respective masters; and it is with 
this view that the call has been made upon the ~ilitary to disarm them, 
in order that their object may be effected with less risk and trouble to 
themselves, as they fear the negroes will resist with their arms should 
they attempt to carry their plans into execution. 

I understand that about one-third of these negroes have been prom­
ised to William J. Duval, esq., for his services as the attorney of the 
Seminoles in causing their slaves to be restored to them, and that about 
an equal number has been sold or otherwise disposed of to Chero­
kees and Creeks, in which it is reported that some of our citizens 
have an interest; and, as the negroes are aware of this fact, it is per­
haps found that they too clearly comprehend the final result of being 
disarmed and sent to live with their Indian masters, and that they 
would resist rather than submit. 

The call of the agent I deemed a novel one, particularly as the ne­
groes had not previously been formally required to surrender their arms. 

Besides, as the only disposable troops (those at Fort Gibson) have 
recently been 3ttacked with cholera, which renders it impracticable to 
fit out an expedition fi·om that post at this time, even if it were abso­
lutely necessary that one should be sent, of which I have very consid­
erable doubt, I have been compelled to decline furnishing a command 
at present; though should an emergency require it, to prevent blood­
shed, I may yet send one before receiving an answer to this communi-
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cation, in case the health of the troops should be sufficiently restored 
to justify such a measure. · 

I offered, however, to send a discreet officer, to urge upon the ne­
groes in his presence the necessity of obeying all the laws of the land; 
of behaving themselves in an orderly, peaceful, and submissive man­
ner; and to investigate and report upon the existing state of affairs, &c. 

The agent at first acceded to this, but subsequently he declined his 
services, on the ground that he deemed an investigation except through 
himself improper, and that he thought an officer could do no good with­
out the presence of troops. I therefore desire to be informed whether 
troops shall be sent out lor the object stated or not . 
. The·se negroes, as slaves, will undoubtedly never be very serviceable 

to the Seminoles or others, as they have been separated from them for 
nearly three years, under the full belief that they would he freed by 
the government .; during which time, a strong feeling of independence 
and a spirit of insubordination have taken possession of them. In their 
present position, I regard them as a nuisance in the Seminole country. 
They were counselled to conduct themselves properly when they were 
turned over, and assured that if they did so, they should not be cruelly 
or illegally treated. But it seems they have acted otherwise. 

I request that this subject may be laid before the Secretary of \Var 
and that I may be instructed in relation thereto at as early a period as 
convenience will permit. 

I am, sir, &c., 
M. ARBUCKLE, 

Brigadier General U. S. A. 
The ADJUTANT GENERAL U. S. ARMY, 

Washington City, D. C. 

True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant AdJutant General. 

HEADQUARTERS 7TH MILITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, August 2, 1849. 

GENERAL : I am instructed by the commanding general to inform 
you that an application has been made by Mr. Duval, the Seminole 
sub-agent, for a military force to proceed to the nation and disarm the 
negroes who were turned over to the chiefs at Fort Gibson during the 
past winter. The General declined complying with the requisition for 
two reasons : First, information had just been received that a very 
large proportion ofyour troops had been attacked with cholera, which 
rendered it impracticable to fit out a suitable command from Fort Gib­
son for that purpose; and, secondly, he deemed such an expedition 
entirely unnecessary at present. . 

It would appear that the principal object in view in disarming the 
negroes, is to better enable purchasers, speculators, &c., to take pos­
session of them without risk or trouble to themselves, as you will 
readily perceive from the following extracts from the agent's commu­
nication, viz: "The Indians have decided who were the original own-
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ers, before protection was afforded, and also the present owners, whose 
right and title is derived under their laws." * * * * . Stating at 
the time, however, that when the decisions were made, the negroes 
would be turned " over to their owners." * * * " The decisions 
have been made, yet the owners have not been placed in possession of 
their property; which arises fl-om the fact that the negroes positively 
refuse to be separated, or allow their towns to be broken up, &c.; 
though the call is made for the purpose of enforcing the laws of the 
Creek nation, as it is stated that the negroes are well armed, contrary 
to said laws. The consequence of depriving the negroes of their 
weapons is perfectly obvious, and undoubtedly the blacks comprehend 
it themselves as clearly any one else, and are therefore disposed, per­
haps, to offer the expected resistance, in case the Indians themselves 
should attempt to carry the laws into execution." 

As the General did not think proper to send troops, and as it was 
stated that the negroes had asserted to the Indians that the military 
would uphold and protect them in what they did, he offered. to send an 
officer with the agent to correct their erroneous notions, and to urge 
upon them the necessity of rendering prompt and implicit obedience to 
all the laws of the land, &c. The agent finally declined, however, 
accepting his services, as he did not wish an investigation to be made, 
(except through himself,) which the officer would have been required 
to make, and report accordingly. 

Mr. Duval started for his agency a few days since, apparently much 
displeased at the General's course in the matter. The uegroes have 
pursued a very improper line of conduct since their removal to the In­
dian country, and it is possible that a command may yet have to be 
ordered out to adjust matters. It is difficult to say when this Indian 
and negro annoyance will cease, though it is hoped it will not be per­
mitted to continue much longer. The General has made a report to 
the government upon this subject, and directed me to communicate 
the foregoing facts for your information. 

I am, General, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
F. F. FLINT, 

Acting Assistant AdJutant General. 
Brig. Gen. W. G. BELKNAP, 

Fifth Regiment Infantry, Com'g Fort Gibson, C. N. 

True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant Adjutant General. 

HEADQUARTERS 7TH 1\IILITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, August 14, 1849. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to enclose herewith, for the information 
of the government, copies of two other communications from the 
Seminole sub-agent, and the acting superintendent on this fi·ontier, 
upon the subject of disarming the Seminole negroes; also duplicates of 
the papers transmitted to you on the 31st ult., which may have been 
miscarried. 
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Mr. Duval's second communicatiOn contams no new matter of lm­

portance; and as the epidemic has not entirely disappeared from among 
the troops at Gibson, where there have been 181 cases of cholera, I 
therefore again declined furnishing the desin~d command. Even if 
Fort Washita were the nearest post-which, in my opinion, is no the 
case-a sufficient force could not be taken from that garrison WI out 
leaving it in a defenceless condition. It is believed that the Seminoles 
are sufficiently numerous to properly control their negroes, without 
the assistance of the military, and it is clearly their duty to keep them 
in subjection themselves. They seem to fear that there would be a 
loss of life, should they take the matter into their own hands. But 
what reason is there to believe that the result would be different should 
it be undertaken by others? The negroes well know what to expect 
after being deprived of their arms, and they are not dispose<l to yield 
peaceably to any. The Indians certainly do not set a very high value 
on the negroes, as I am informed that many of them have been dis­
posed of for the merest trifle; so that it cannot be the blacks whose 
lives they are so anxious should not be put in jeopardy. In short, I am 
satisfied that the whole business is kept in agitation by others, who 
manifest much restlessness, impatience, and deep solicitude, respecting 
the welfare of the Seminoles and their negroes. 

I am of the opinion that there will be no disturbance, at least for 
the present, unless produced by the interference of interested persons. 
I again request that the subject may be laid before the Secretary of 
War; and, should he think proper to submit it to the President, he 
will doubtless be enabled to judge, from the papers now forwarded, 
who are the persons most interested, and to fully comprehend the state 
of affairs, as he has had much experience on this frontier, aud can duly 
appreciate the motives which actuate the different individuals in their 
movements. 

I am, sir, &c., 
l\L ARBUCKLE, 

Brigadier General U. S. Army. 
ADJUTANT GENERAL u. s. ARMY, 

Washington, D. C. 

True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant Adjutant . General. 

HEADQUARTERS 7TH MILITARY DEPARTMEN·T, 

Fort Smith, August 13, 1849. 

SrR: I am instructed by the commanding general of this depart­
ment to acknowledge the receipt of your note of the lOth instant, 
covering a communication from the Seminole sub-agent, urging the dis­
arming of the Seminole negroes by the troops. 

The General would again express bis regrets at not having any dis­
posable' troops. There have been 180 cases of cholera among those at 
Gibson, (only about 200 total,) and the companies at Fort Washita (only 
a~out 86 total) are busily engaged erecting comfortable quarters for the 
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accommodation, during the ensuing winter, of themselves and some 
other troops which are under orders for that post, and are daily expected 
from New Mexico. 

The existing state of affairs in the Seminole country was promptly 
reported to the government after the receipt of your first letter, and 
instr <.:tions requested in relation to the employment of a military force 
for the purpose of disarming the negroes, &c., which, it is presumed, 
will be received early in next month. In the mean time, it is believed 
there wal be no disturbance, unless produced by interested persons. 
A rumor has reached here, through a respectable channel, that two 
influential citizens of Van Buren accompanied Mr. Duval, on his return 
to his agency, as far as the Creek agency, and proposed to Ben Mar­
shall, one of the most prominent men in the Creek nation, that. he should 
have said negroes disarmed! and that he (Marshall) refused to accede to 
any such proposition. The propriety of such an interfE-rence in Indian 
affairs, if the report be true, within your supervision, by our citizens, 
it is not doubted you are perfectly competent to judge of. Most of the 
trouble in the Indian country on this frontier ha::, been occasioned by 
our own citizens, either directly or indirectly, and it is much to be 
lamented. 

When the negroes were turned over to the chiefs at Fort Gibson, it 
was with the express understanding that they would be permitted to 
live in ''towns," as they had formerly done, and that they should not 
be sold, or otherwise disposed of, to either white men or Indians, but 
be kept in the Seminole country. 

The chiefs were told that the negroes would be turned over with 
this expectation, to which they assented; thereby virtually making a 
promise to the same effect. Had they not done so, the blacks never 
would peaceably have returned to the nation. They had heard that 
about two-thirds of their number had been disposed of, in one way or 
another, and that they were to be "scattered" as soon as removed 
from the military reserve; and they expressly declared that they would 
sooner die where they were than to submit to such a fate, after having 
been promised their freedom . The chiefs gave them to understanJ that 
they haJ no occasion for apprehending anything of the kind, and that 
they should remain with tbe Seminoles, and be kindly treated. The 
negroes said they were perfectly satisfied to live with the Indians as 
they had previously done; yet, it would appear from Mr. Duval's first 
communication, that one principal object of the Seminoles . in disarming 
the negroes is, to turn them over to those "whose right and title is de­
rived under their laws." 

The General regards the insubordinate.and independent position of 
the negroes as a serious evil, which he has fully represented to the gov­
ernment, and one which requires an efficient correction ; though the 
promises to them have been violated on all sides, and the present state 
of aflairs is principally attributable to the Indians themselves, in not 
compelling all of the negroes to settle at points which they had desig­
nated when they first returned to the nation. 

As Mr. Duval's. second communication, received by the General, 
contains no new matter of importance, and as he was informed, when 
here, by the General, that it was impracticable to fit out a suitable 
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command for the object stated, and as he declined accepting the ser­
vices of an officer, no reply to it is deemed necessary. 

I am, sir, &c., 
F. F. FLINT~ A. A. A. General. 

Col. J. DRENNEN, 

Acting Superintendent W. T., Van Buren, Ark. 

VAN BuREN, August 18, 1849. 
SrR: On my return this day from the Choctaw agency, I found a let­

ter of the 13th instant, written according to your instructions by F. F. 
Flint, Acti!lg Assistant Adjutant General, in answer to my note of the 
lOth. I regret that it was impossible for you to comply with my re­
quest to furnish l\L Duval, Seminole sub-agent, with troops to disarm 
a town of Seminole negroes. 

I truly regret that it could not be done at this time, as I believe the 
negroes would make no resistance to the troops of the United States, 
but peaceably and without tumult surrender their arms. It is now to 
be feared that the Indians of the Seminole and Creek nations will at­
tempt to disarm them; in that event it may possibly occasion serious 
difficulty. I do not pretend to know the object of government in 
turning the negroes over to the Seminole Indians. If the negroes were 
to be free and invested with the rights of citizens, it was in direct 
violation of the Seminole laws. If the negroes were sent into the 
Seminole country to colonize on the land of the Indian, it is in direct 
violation of the treaty. On the other hand, if the negroes were turned 
over to the Seminole Indians as slaves or property to their owners or 
masters, and they have become refractory or rebellious, I then conceive 
it to be the imperative duty of the government to protect the Indian 
and quell domestic strife. I am glad, however, you have referred the 
whole matter to the consideration of the government, and trust you 
may receive a satisfactory answer. As regards the two influential cit­
izens of Van Buren, accompanying Sub-Agent Duval on his return to 
his agency as far as the Creek agency, and proposing to Ben. :Marshall, 
one of the prominent me11 of the Creek nation, that he should have said 
negroes (lisarmed, and that he refused to accede to any such proposi­
tion, I know nothing, as I was at the Choctaw agency at the time Mr. 
Duval left Van Buren. On inquiry I found that Mr. P. H. White and 
1\'Ir. Brown, of VanBuren, accompanied Mr. Duval to the Creek agency. 
These gentlemen assure me most positively they made no such proposi­
tions to 1\tir. 1\tiarshall. I am well aware that great disturbance and much 
difficulty has arisen in the [ndian country by designing white men, for 
mercenary purposes; but I did not think for one moment that anything 
of the kind was intended in this case, as I made the requisition for 
troops in good faith, and upon the statement in writing of a highly re­
spectable agent of the goveTnment. 

I have the honor to be, most respectfully, yours, 
JOHN DRENNEN, 

Gen. M. ARBUCI\:LE, 

Acting Superintendent W T. 

Commanding 7th Military Dep't, Fort Smitlz. 
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HEADQUARTERS 7TH J'rliLITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, September 10, 1849. 

CoLONEL: The commanding general of this department has instruct­
ed me to report to you that the Seminole chiefs Wild Cat, Pas-soc-kee­
y-ho-la, and George Cloud, wilh about fifteen warriors of their nation, 
arrived here on the 7th and 8th instant. Wild Cat stated that they 
were sent to confer with the General by their king or principal chief, 
in rela6on to troubles in their nation. The visit was altogether unex­
pected or uninvited by the General; yet, as they wished to make known 
to him their grievances, he did not think it proper to deprive them of 
an opportunity to do so. 

The sub-agent of the Seminoles, l\fr. Duval, in his letter to the 
General of the lGth July, which has been forwarded to the govern­
ment, and more particularly in conversation when he delivered that 
letter, accused the negroes of Gopher John's town of having resisted 
the laws of the Seminoles, and also stated that Gopher John encour­
aged the resistance. This is denied by the above-named chiefs, who 
affirm that they have no complaints to make against the black people 
turned over to them at Fort Gibson; that they are now settled in 
three to"\vns sufficiently convenient to them, and they wish the negroes 
to retain their arms, that they may kill wild animals to assist them to 
support their children, as they are very poor; and that they may not 
be disturbed in any way where they now reside. 

The chiefs have stated that their present principal chief, Jim 
J urn per, a young man who has no slaves, promised the agent's brother, 
Wm. J. Duval, as they have heard, one-third of the blacks that had 
sought protection at Fort Gibson, provided he would have them turned 
over to the Seminole::; ; and that but few, it any, of the owners of these 
slaves had any knowledge of this promise, or even gave their consent 
to such a disposition of their property; and that their sub-agent of 
late had said that one-third, or about ninety of the negroes, would not 
be a sufficient remuneration, as he and his brother had expentled much 
of their money in prosecuting the suit against the President of the 
United States, in hiring lawyers, &c., for the recovery of said negroes; 
and that more than ninety of them must be turned over to himself and 
brother. To all of this the owners of the negroes, they say, totally 
disagree; as they consider an Indian agent is paid by the government 
to attend to the interests of the Indians with whom he is placed, with­
out fee or reward from them. It is obvious that if the owners of the 
blacks should be dispossessed of their property in this manner without 
their consent, they will ultimately present a claim to the government 
for the loss sustained thereby. The chiefs further stated that the sub­
agent informed the chief Pas-soc-kee-y-ho-la, and others, that if the 
Seminoles did not give up the negroes he required or wanted, he would 
withold from them their annuity. Also, that the sub-agent had made 
a ca.ll on the chief of the Creeks, Roly :Mcintosh, to send some of 
his people to meet the Seminoles in council; and if the Creeks should 
approve of disarming the negroes, the Seminoles would assist them to 
do · it. This counc-il, they say, was to have been held (by the instruc­
tion to the Creek chief, Jim Boy, at the head of it) near where the 
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blacks have settled, on the 3d instant; and as the Seminoles were to­
tally opposed to any interference on the part of the Creeks, they would 
not attend the council, and their chiefs had instructed them to report 
tne facts to General Arbuckle; and they had notified the Creeks that 
they would not meet them at the council proposed by the Seminole 
sub-agent. 

:Much more was said by Wild Cat and the other chiefs, complain­
ing of the course of their sub-agent towards them, and of the course 
he had taken in relation to their slaves, which, for want of time, is 
omitted for the present. 

When Mr. Duval was last here, the general informed him that he had 
heard that his brother, W. J. Duval, was to receive tor his services as 
attorney, one-third or one-fourth of the Seminole slaves who were under 
the protection of the troops at Fort Gibson, provided he succeeded in 
having them turned over to the nation. One-third was the best reco1lec­
tion of the General on this subject, yet, fearing his memory might de­
ceive him, he added, or one-fourth. To this Mr. Duval replied, that his 
brother was to have some slaves for his services, but that he had suffi­
cient of their business in his hands to satisfy him if he should not get 
the negroes. . 

When information was first received here that the blacks were to be 
restored to the Seminoles, the commanding officer of Fort. Gibson was 
directed to notify all persons concerned, as far as practicable, that no 
sales made previous to turning the negroes over to the chiefs would be 
recognised; notwithstanding this, and it was also made public in this 
vicinity, it is understood that some sixty or seventy were sold. 

The General believes the course adopted by the sub-agent such 
as will probably lead to difficulty between the Seminoles and the 
Creeks, and is therefore of the opinion that your instructions to their 
agents should be such as to prevent much trouble hereafter, and he 
cannot doubt your interposition in relation to this matter. 

He has advised the Seminoles to remain quiet until the pleasure of 
the government be made known. This he believes the best course to 
preserve peace on this frontier. Wild Cat has been informed that you 
were the proper person for him and his chiefs to have called on in re­
lation to his complaints against his sub-agent, and he has promised the 
General that he would deliver this letter to you, and explain to you what 
is above contained, and whatever else you may desire to be informed of. 

I am, sir, &c., 
F. F. FLINT, 

Colonel J. DRENNEN, 
Acting Astistant AdJutant General. 

Acting Superintendent W. T., Choctaw Agency. 

HEADQ"C'ARTERS 7TH MILITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, September 10, 1849. 

CoLoNEL: I am instructed by the commanding general of this de­
partment to inform you that \Vild Cat, Pas-soc-kee-y-ho-la, and George 
Cloud, with some of their people, called upon the General on the 8th 
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instant, by direction of their principal chief, Jim Jumper, for the pur­
pose of holding a talk with him in relation to certain troubles in their 
nation. 

They complain that their agent, Mr. Duval, is very anxious that their 
slaves should be disarmed, and their towns broken up; and that he has 
endeavored to persuade the Creeks to aid him in accomplishing his 
object, by calling a council through Roly Mcintosh, during your absence, 
&c., &c. They say the Seminoles do not wish their slaves disarmed, 
as they are mostly dependent, or at least in a measure so, upon the 
rifle for fresh meat, and they have no complaints whatever against the 
blacks, and they particularly object to the Creeks interfering in this 
matter. Therefore, with the view of preventing any difficulty between 
the Creeks and Seminoles, the General desires that the Creeks will take 
no further measures in relation to the Seminole negroes until instruc­
tions be received fi·om Washington city. The whole subject will be 
submitted to the government for consideration; and in the mean time 
it is hoped that all will remain quiet, and that the peace and harmony 
of this trontier will in no manner be disturbed. 

I am, sir, &c., 
F. F. FLINT, 

Acting Assistant AdJutant General. 
Colonel RAIFORD, 

Greek Agent, at the Agency. 
True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 

Assistant AdJutant General. 

HEADQUARTERS 7TH l\hLITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, Septemher 10, 1S49. 

This is to certify that a party of Seminoles, consisting of ~Tild Cat, 
Pas-soc-kee-y-ho-la, and George Cloud, and twelve or fifteen warriors, 
arrived here on the 7th and 8th instant, and represented to General 
Arbuckle that their agent, M. Duval, was endeavoring to have the 
Seminole negroes disarmeJ and their towns broken up, contrary to the 
wishes of the Seminole nation; that he had called upon the chief of the 
Creeks to send some one of his people to meet the Seminoles in council, 
to this end, wiLhout their knowledge and in opposition to their own 
views, and that he has threatened to withhold from the Seminoles their 
annuity, if they did not deliver to himself and his bro1her, \V. J. Duval, 
about one-third or the negroes turned over to them during the past 
winter at Fort Gibson; also that they were displeased with his course 
in general towards them and their slaves. 

This party was informed by General Arbuckle that the whole sub­
ject would be laid before the government, and he advised that no further 
steplS be taken; that all remain quiet until the pleasure of the govern­
ment be made known; that the Creek agent would be requested to 
prevent in the mean time any interference whatever on the part of the 
Creeks. 

The foregoing was written at the request of Wild Cat and his party. 
F. F. FLINT, 

Acting Assistant Adiutant General. 
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HEADQUARTERS 7TH MILITARY DEPARTMENT, 
Fort Smith, September 14, 1849. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your 
letter of the 22d ultimo, acknowledging certain communications in re­
lation to disarming Seminoles, &c. I now enclose, for the further 
information of the government, a copy of a letter addressed to Colonel 
John Drennen, acting superintendent Indian affairs, which embraces 
the statements of the chiefs Wild Cat, Pas-soc-kee-y-ho-la, and George 
Cloud, relative to the existing state of affairs in the Seminole nation. 
Their account differs very materially from the Seminole sub-agent's, 
and presents the matter in a totally different light. Should the govern­
ment think proper, contrary to my expectations, to order the troops to 
disarm the negroes, on what has already been reported, I shall deem it 
ad vis able to delay action until I shall be further instructed after the 
receipt of this letter. In the mean time, should it be thought expedient 
to order an investigation, through some disinterested competent person 
or persons in no way connected with any branch of the publi~ service, 
at least on this fron6er, it is not doubted but that many important facts 
may be gathered, and that it will be easily ascertained who are the 
persons most directly and deeply interested in carrying into execution 
the plan proposed by the Seminole sub-agent, and urgently recom­
mended by the acting superintendent. As these are points of much 
delicacy, I submit the whole subject for the consideration of the proper 
authority, without further comment. I desire that the enclosed letter 
may be filed with those forwarded to you on the 4th of August. 

I am, General, &c., 
~I. ARBUCKLE, 

~Major General R. JoNEs, 
Brigadier General U. S. A. 

Adjutant General U. S. A., Washington, D. C. 

True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 
Assistant Adjutant Gene'ral. 

CANADIAN CREEK NATION, 
September 20, 1850. 

FRIEND AND BRoTHER: I find from information received, that Wild 
Cat, the Seminole chief, has returned to this country, and find from a 
report published in the papers, that he has collected some eight hundred 
Indians in Western Texas with hostile intentions, and some murders 
had been committed. This is published in the New York Journal ot 
Commerce of July 18th, and hasten to inform you that he is now in the 
Seminole district of this nation. If these are facts as are published, 
and for him to return to this country under existing circumstances, we 
deem it an act calculated to censure the people of this country in his 
remaining in our midst, as harboring men guilty of outrages on other 
citizens. It would be advisable for you to inform General Belknap of 
this, as it was not known positively that he had returned until this 
morning. We were further informed that he had, previous to his 
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coming in, sent for such as would join him from his people to go to his 
assistance, and that he had sent on by the Kickapoos for supplies of 
powder and lead. If you have any communication to make to us in 
answer, you will please write, as a council will take place on the 29th 
of this month. 

We have heard this, and it has disturbPd our mind, but must say to 
you to rest contented, and probably may hear further. 

We are, very respectfully, your friends and brothers, 
.ECHO HADGO, his x mark. 
BILLY HAD GO, his x mark. 
JIMMY CHOPCO, his x mark. 
TUSTAHUG CHOPCO, his x mark. 
ARLOCH FIXIA, his x mark. 

VERDIGRIS, September 23, 1850. 

GENERAL BELKNAP-: I have this morning enclosed you a letter re­
·ceived from the Canadian chiefs, and a talk from the Tokabatchee 
Micco concerning Wild Cat. The messenger came in last night that 
Wild Cat got back, and brought in a news that he went on and. talk 
with Mexican, and they agree to give him land and subsistence if he 
come in and settle in the country. Now he come back with enticing 
news, and want to carry his people in that nation; and the negroes, 
he told them if they emigrate to that country, they will be all freed by 
the government. This is good news to the negroes. I am told some 
are preparing to go. He further states that he had four hundred men 
'vith him when he was travelling, but he came in by himself, one 
woman, and a young man. What come of this four hundred men we 
have not learned. Wild Cat held council with his people-had this 
ta]k with them. When I was with you last, when I got a true talk 
of vVild Cat I would let you know; this is a true talk I send you. 
I want you to consider it and write me an answer. We going to hold 
council to· day at K. Severs. Should you answer this letter for the 
best for our nation, direct your letter to that place. Nothing more. 
Your friend, 

ROL Y MciNTOSH. 

HEADQUARTERS 5TH INFANTRY, FoRT GrBsoN, C. N., 
October 15, 1850. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communi­
cation of the 5th instant, in relation to expected difficulties between 
the Creeks and Seminoles. 

In reply, I have to inform you that the chief of the Creek nation 
1 
(Roly Mcintosh) has stated to me "that he sent a party of three hnn· 
dred warriors into the Seminole country, with instructions to prevent 
any negroes from leaving the nation with Wild Cat, and also to detain 
that chief until the object of his mission could be ascertained." He 
also wrote to the agent and principal chiefs of the Seminoles on the 
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same subject. He states his object to have been to prevent the ne­
groes from escaping with Wild Cat to Mexico, and not in any manner 
to deprive the Seminoles of them. 

The party sent out proceeded as far as W e-woca, where they halted, 
and after learning that Wild Cat was still in the Seminole country, and 
that a number of negroes were making preparations to leave, returned 
home without accomplishing anything. He also said that he had not 
yet received replies to his letters to the agent and chiefs of the Semi­
noles, but will inform me of their contents when they reach him, which 
will be immediately communicated to you. I am well aware of the 
duties imposed upon me by paragraph 89, Army Regulations, and have 
heretofore kept, and will continue to keep, the General advised of all 
events deemed important by me that may transpire in the Indian coun­
try. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
W. G. BELKNAP, 

Brigadier General Commanding. 
Brevet Major F. N. PAGE, A. A. General, 

Headquarters 7th Military Department, Fort Smith, Ark. 
True copy: FRANCIS N. PAGE, 

Assistant AdJutant General. 

Ex. Doc. 16--3 
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